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RFP No. 1-14-C009 
Airport Operations & Surface Movement Display System, IAD 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Reference Statement of Work, section A01-III-06-D-10.  Please confirm that the items 

immediately following Attachment 01, Section III-06-D-10 are also part of section D and apply 
to the queries used to generate the reports. 
 
Answer:  Yes.  Amendment 2 modifies the language of Attachment 01, Section III-06-D-10 to 
include the items in queries and report generation.    
 

2. Reference Attachment 02, Evaluation Criteria and Proposal Submission Requirements, 01, C 
Evaluation Criteria.  As part of the price proposal evaluation, it states that "any offer which is 
materially unbalanced may be rejected". If some of the 7 items in the Price Schedule are 
inseparable, meaning they cannot be priced independently, will that be deemed materially 
unbalanced?  
 
Answer:  No, materially unbalanced refers to unreasonably high or unreasonably low offers 
which may demonstrate a lack of understanding of the scope of work.  Price evaluation will be 
based on the total of the three year base period and the two two year option periods.    
 

3. Reference Statement of Work, section A01-III-07.  Can you please clarify whether the procured 
system is expected to perform landing fee calculations or merely provide the necessary flight 
audit information to support MWAA's own calculations?  If the system is to perform landing 
fee calculations, can you please provide the formula(s) to be used? 
 
Answer: No calculations are necessary.  The flight data is used for comparison with airline 
activity self-reporting. 
 

4. Is it the Authority’s intent to select one vendor to provide all of the solutions or will the 
Authority be picking the best solution for each requirement?   
 
Answer:  The Authority anticipates awarding a contract to a single firm, however, the 
Authority, when deemed in its best interest, reserves the right to make multiple and/or split 
awards.  The Authority reserves the right to select any of the offered services, items 1 through 
7 on the Price Schedule that best meet the needs of the Authority.       
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5. How do you define corporate flights in the SOW Section 5 B. 2. b. (6) & SOW Section 6 D. 10 b. 

a. (2)?   
 
Answer: Reference to corporate flights has been changed to GA flights in Amendment 2. 

 
6. Can you please explain range (arrivals) in the SOW Section 5 B. 2. c. (6)?    

 
Answer: Range equals nautical miles from IAD for arriving aircraft. 
 

7. What is meant by Regional Detail in the SOW Section 6 C. 2 e? 
 
Answer:  Regional detail is information on “feeder” airlines, generally aircraft with 100 seats 
or less. 
 

8. Reference SOW Section 7.  Can you provide a representative set of invoices for a month?   
 
Answer: No invoices for airlines are required.  The data is for comparison with airline self-
reporting. 
 

9. What two sets of times create a measurable delay that MWAA would want to track? For 
example, is it scheduled departure time compared to out time or wheels down compared to in 
time?   
 
Answer:  For arrivals it is the aircrafts actual time of arrival compared to the scheduled time of 
arrival and for departures it is the actual time of departure compared to the aircrafts 
scheduled time of departure. 
 

10. In SOW Section 6 D. 10. a. (6), would you like to sort by the day then the hour within the day or 
just by the hour?    
 
Answer: Searching by month will require a year, searching by day will require a month, 
searching by hour will require a day.  Users should be able to sort data by year, month, day, 
and hour based on the type of research required. 
 

11. In the SOW Section III 1 A., it appears that all of the listed services map to a specific section in 
the SOW except for the Airline and Terminal Information Display System. Can you please 
provide more details on this or what it exactly maps to in the SOW?     
 
Answer: The Airline and Terminal Information Display system was deleted with the issuance 
of Amendment 1.  
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12. Please provide the rules to determine how a flight is deemed a signatory versus non-
signatory/itinerant flight in SOW 7 A 1. a.        
 
Answer: We will provide the initial signatory/non-signatory list.  Updates will be submitted by 
the Authority as necessary.  The information is also provided on the website in the Financial 
Section, in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). 
 

13. Please provide the definition of unscheduled in SOW 7 A. 1. c. (10) (b).   
 
Answer:  Generally, these are: Charter, GA, and Military. 
 

14. Please provide the rate structure for the Landing Fees in SOW 7 A. c. (12). 
 
Answer:  The rates are published two times per year on the MWAA website in the Financial 
Section. 
 

15. In SOW 7 C, does Dulles International require a specific format and if so what is the format for 
the authority generated landing fee reports and invoices? Can the Authority provide 
examples? 
 
Answer:  There is no specific format and invoice generation is not required.  While integration 
with the Authority invoicing system is not currently planned, the Authority reserves the right 
to exercise this option in the future.  
 

16. In SOW 7 C, does the landing fee reports and invoices need to include an internal account 
number or any other details?  If so, how will that information be sourced and managed?  
 
Answer:  No internal account numbers are necessary.  While integration with the Authority 
invoicing system is not currently planned, the Authority reserves the right to exercise this 
option in the future.  
 
 

17. In SOW 7 C. 1. c., do you require interfaces for all existing invoicing and accounts receivable 
systems on the first day of service?  If not, what is your preferred order of integration?   
 
Answer: Currently, no interface is required; the data is used for comparison only. While 
integration with the Authority invoicing system is not currently planned, the Authority 
reserves the right to exercise this option in the future.  
 
 

18. Per the statement that the Airport Financial, Researching, Auditing and Invoice service was 
not intended to be a financial system, can you please describe the circumstances/use cases 
where this system would be used in the finance/invoicing process?     
 
Answer:  The data is used for comparison to airline activity self-reporting.  While integration 
with the MWAA invoicing system is not currently planned, the Authority reserves the right to 
exercise this option in the future.  
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19. With the understanding that Airport Operations Archive and Reporting and Airport Financial 

Researching, Auditing, and Invoicing are now only services for the 10 concurrent users, are 
05 A. and 06 B. accessible to multiple parties but controlled through authorized user 
privileges defined by the Authority still applicable?       
 
Answer: Yes. 
 

20. Regarding the proposal submission instructions, Section 8 of the cover page and Section 02 
Proposal Submission Requirements are different.  What set of instruction should be followed 
for submitting the proposal?   
 
Answer:  Section 8 of the Solicitation Offer and Award page requests that offerors submit an 
original of five (5) copies of the technical proposal by 2:00 PM on January 22, 2014.  Section 
X, Attachment 02, provision 02 Proposal Submission Requirements, states that proposals 
shall be submitted in three (3) parts, each in a separate sealed envelope.  Envelope 3, 
Technical Proposal calls for an original and five copies of the Technical Proposal plus a CD-
ROM for flash drive in PDF or MS Word format.          
 

21. Regarding Section 43 Publicity Releases, would MWAA consider adding language that states 
that publicity releases will not be unreasonably withheld?      
 
Answer:  All publicity releases in connection with this contract will be made in consultation 
with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts department.    
 

22. Regarding Section 47 Consent to Assignment, would the Authority consider adding language 
that states that assignments will not be unreasonably withheld?     
 
Answer:  Assignment of any or all parts of the contract will be reviewed/considered on a case 
by case basis.   
 

23. Regarding Section 19, Termination for Convenience of the Authority, would the Authority 
consider either waiving the convenience clause or committing to a ninety 90 notice prior to 
termination?     
 
Answer:  The Termination for Convenience provision may be exercised if the Contracting 
Officer determines that a termination is in the Authority's interest.  The Authority shall not 
waive this provision nor commit to a prior notice period.  
 

24. Regarding Section 20 Default, would the Authority consider a cure period of twenty-one days 
upon receipt of notification of the breach?   
 
Answer:  The Authority will consider the nature of the breach and assign a cure period of 10 
days or longer depending on what the Contracting Officer considers reasonably necessary.    
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25. Based on the content and construction of the RFP, it seems to require the acquisition of data 
from ITT/Exelis, as they are the only known provider of all of the data. This situation would 
require any respondent to the RFP to purchase data from a business competitor, and likely 
respondent.  Is the Authority aware of any alternate sources to acquire the required data that 
would not create a clear competitive disadvantage?   
 
Answer: The question was clarified to indicate NAS (National Airspace) data was provided 
by ITT/Exelis as an FAA contractor.  The FAA provides means of requesting National Airspace 
System (NAS) Data on their website www.faa.gov.  In particular, FAA Order 1200.22E which 
includes FAA Form 1200-5 (NAS Data Release Request) indicates the FAA has the ability to 
release recorded NAS data to authorized businesses.   
 

26. Is the Authority willing to accept a more advanced, feature capable solution that exceeds the 
RFP requirements?  Specifically, with regard to non-movement area coverage, the RFP 
essentially outlines an antiquated “coasting” solution without actual dynamic position 
coverage for aircraft in non-movement areas. We are currently implementing a solution at 
another US airport that provides actual real-time aircraft positioning in all areas of the airport 
(movement and non-movement) based on widely available contemporary technology and it 
would be our intent to propose a similar solution to the authority. 
 
Answer: Criterion 4, Competitive Originality / Innovation will consider innovative or unique 
Airport Operations and Surface Movement Display System features provided in the Offeror’s 
proposals, which realistically improve the Airports Authority’s situational awareness.    
 

27. Letter “B.” under “Protests” within the document seems to be ambiguous with regard to the 
date.  Please clarify that formal protests need to be received by the Manager of the 
Procurement and Contracts Department by the RFP due date and time or January 22, 2014 at 
2:00pm.  
 
Answer:  The protest must be received by the Manager of Procurement and Contracts by the 
earlier of the following two dates: (1) Fourteen (14) days after issuance date of the solicitation 
or the date of the solicitation amendment containing the terms and conditions that are the 
subject of the protest, or (2) the due date for bids or proposals.  Since Amendment 002 
extends the due date to January 29, 2014 at 2:00 PM that would be the new due date for formal 
protests.     
 


